

Using Cisco NAM Hardware in a WAAS Deployment

Deployment Guide



Contents

Abstract	3
Installation and Configuration of the Data Center NAM	4
Initial NAM Configuration	4
Configuring the SPAN Data Source	5
Configuring NetFlow Export on the Remote Branch Router (Optional)	6
Configuring NetFlow on Cisco IOS Routers	7
Configuring the NetFlow Data Source on the NAM	7
Configuring NetFlow Reports on the NAM	8
Using SPAN and NetFlow to Identify Business-Critical Applications	9
Creating a Baseline of Application Performance	12
Real-Time Reports for Evaluating Application Performance	12
Historical Reports for Evaluating Application Performance	15
Configuring Response Time Reports for Impact Analysis	16
Configuring Conversation Throughput Reports for Impact Analysis	16
Configuring NAM-WAAS Integration	16
Configuring WAAS to Send Flow Information to NAM	16
Configuring the WAAS Data Source in NAM	17
Configuring WAAS Monitored Servers in NAM	19
Configuring Response Time Reports for WAAS Impact Analysis	19
Configuring Conversation Throughput Reports for WAAS Impact Analysis	19
Generating WAAS Before and After Reports	20
<u>Summary</u>	21

Abstract

Cisco[®] Wide Area Application Services (WAAS) is a powerful application acceleration and WAN optimization solution that optimizes the performance of TCP-based applications operating in a WAN environment This optimization allows IT organizations to consolidate costly branch-office servers and storage in centrally managed data centers and to deploy new applications directly from the data center while offering LAN-like application performance for any employee, regardless of location.

In a typical WAN-optimized deployment, the interception of application traffic obscures the response time, data transfer time, and other performance metrics; hence the traditional monitoring techniques fail to accurately characterize the impact of optimization.

Cisco[®] Network Analysis Module (NAM) uses the built-in instrumentation on Wide-Area Application Engine (WAE) devices as additional data sources to gather flow data for optimized traffic and provide end-to-end application performance visibility in a Cisco WAAS environment (Figure 1). It measures and reports on application response time, transaction time, bandwidth usage, and LAN/WAN data throughput among other performance metrics. As a result, it can accurately quantify the impact of Cisco WAAS optimization.

Cisco NAM can also help to assess which applications would benefit the most from deploying WAN optimization and application acceleration services. Analyzing the response time data over a period of time, the administrator can identify the applications where the response time improvement can be significant with an increase in available bandwidth. In addition, understanding the traffic mix provides a sense of how much compression could be achieved with Cisco WAAS based on the type of applications in the mix.

Finally, Cisco NAM can be used to provide real-time visibility for ongoing optimization improvements, to monitor optimized and nonoptimized applications, and to troubleshoot any performance degradation issues.

The purpose of this document is to provide detailed steps to configure the NAM and generate useful reports to demonstrate the impact of WAAS in a proof of concept (POC) as well as in WAAS deployments.



Figure 1. Cisco NAM Provides End-to-End Application Performance Visibility in WAAS Environments

Note: The details of WAAS installation, setup, and testing are not covered in this document.

Installation and Configuration of the Data Center NAM

For WAAS monitoring, it is recommended to connect a Cisco[®] NAM 2200 appliance to the data center edge switch. Alternately a NAM-2-250S service module can be installed in the Catalyst[®] 6000 at the data center edge. The NAM Virtual Blade is covered in the link listed below. The device in which the NAM resides or to which it is connected is referred to as the managed device.

For installation instructions for the Cisco NAM 2200 appliances, please see: http://www.cisco.com/en/US/products/ps10113/prod_installation_guides_list.html.

For installation instructions for the Cisco NAM-2-250S, please see: http://www.cisco.com/en/US/docs/net_mgmt/network_analysis_module_software/4.1/switch/configuration/guide/swconfig.html.

For installation instructions for the Cisco NAM Virtual Blade, please see: http://www.cisco.com/en/US/docs/net_mgmt/network_analysis_module_virtual_blade/4.1/install/guide/vbinstall.html.

NAM-WAAS white papers — Using Cisco NAM 4.1 Reporting with Cisco WAAS: <u>http://www.cisco.com/en/US/prod/collateral/modules/ps2706/white_paper_c11-506458_ps10113_Products_White_Paper.html</u>.

Enhanced Operations Visibility for WAAS Deployments with Cisco NAM: <u>http://www.cisco.com/en/US/prod/collateral/modules/ps2706/white_paper_c11-554563-00_ps10113_Products_White_Paper.html</u>.

For application performance metrics, please refer to the user guide at: http://www.cisco.com/en/US/docs/net_mgmt/network_analysis_module_software/4.0/user/guide/monitor.html#wp104 6620.

More documents are available at <u>http://www.cisco.com/go/nam</u>.

Initial NAM Configuration

This section will walk you through the initial setup of the NAM using the command-line interface (CLI).

- 1. Log in or session to the NAM using root as the username and root as the password.
- 2. Enter the following commands to enable IP access:
 - ip address <IP-Address> <Subnet-Mask>
 - ip gateway <Gateway-IP-Address>
 - ip domain <Domain-name>
 - ip nameserver <Nameserver-IP-Address>
 - ip http server enable
 - (Enter the web username and password)

exsession on

- Connect to the NAM IP address using a web browser and log in using the web username and password you have selected.
- 4. Go to Setup > Preferences and change the Data Displayed in value to Bits.

Configuring the SPAN Data Source

Select the interfaces/VLANs on the managed device that connect to the server LAN as the source for the Switched Port Analyzer (SPAN) session. The intention is to be able to see all the traffic between the data center and the branches. The SPAN destination on the NAM-2-250S can be either DATA PORT 1 or DATA PORT 2. The SPAN destination on the NAM appliance is the physical port on the managed device that is connected to the physical data port of the NAM appliance.

1. Click Setup > Data Sources > SPAN > Create

Select the appropriate SPAN type, SPAN destination, SPAN direction, and available SPAN sources (Figures 2 and 3).

Figure 2.	Creating a SPAN Session on the NAM-2-250S
-----------	---



Note: On the NAM appliance the SPAN destination will be the port on the managed device that is connected to the NAM appliance.

Figure 3. Creating a SPAN Session on the NAM 2200 Series Appliance

Create SPAN Session
Monitor Session: 3 💌
SPAN Type: 🔿 Remote Port 💿 VLAN 🔿 EtherChannel 🔿 RSPAN VLAN
Remote Destination Port: Gi1/10 💌
SPAN Traffic Direction: 🔿 Rx 🔿 Tx 💿 Both
Available Sources: default (1) kExplorer_2 (2) kExplorer_card_5 (3) HTTP_Client_Performance_2 (5) (Both) HTTP_Client_Performance_2 (6) HTTP_Client_Performance_2 (6) HTTP_Client_Performance_2 (6) HTTP_Client_Traffic (10) HTTP_Client_Traffic (11) Camelot_Traffic (12) Pagent_Traffic (15) SCCP_Traffic (16) H323_Traffic (17)
Refresh Submit

© 2010 Cisco and/or its affiliates. All rights reserved. This document is Cisco Public Information.

 Click Setup > Monitor and make sure that Core Monitoring and Response Time Monitoring are selected for the SPAN data source (Figures 4 and 5).

You Are Here: ♦ Setup ♦ Monitor ♦ Core Monitoring						
Co	re Monitoring Functions					
Core Monitoring						
Voice Monitoring						
 RTP Stream Monitoring 	Data Source: ALL SPAN	Filter Clear				
Response Time	Monitoring Function	Max Entries				
··Configuration	Application Statistics	Not applicable				
••Monitoring	Host Statistics (Network & Application layers)	1000 🔽				
DITTSERV uProfile	Host Statistics (MAC layer)	Not applicable				
··Monitoring	Conversation Statistics (Network & Application layers)	5000 💌				
VIRL Collection	Conversation Statistics (MAC layer)	Not applicable				
	VLAN Traffic Statistics	Not applicable				
	VLAN Priority (CoS) Statistics	Not applicable				
	Vetwork-to-MAC Address Correlation	Not applicable				
	CP/UDP Port Table	Not applicable				
	MPLS Labels Statistics	Not applicable				
	$\hat{\mathbb{T}}_{}$ Check desired functions then Apply \longrightarrow	Apply Reset				

Figure 4. Setting Up Core Monitoring Functions

Figure 5. Setting Up Response Time Monitoring

You	You Are Here: ♦ Setup → Monitor → Response Time → Monitoring						
	Response Time Monitoring Setup						
	 Core Monitoring 						
	 Voice Monitoring 			DataSource	Max Entries		
	RTP Stream Monitoring			ALL SPAN	500		
	Response Time			DATA PORT 1	500		
	···Configuration						
	"Monitoring			DATA PORT 2	500		
	> DiffServ		t Select	a control row then take an action	Create Edit Delete		
	··Profile		36601	a control tow then take an action			
	··Monitoring						
	> URL Collection						

 You can now go to Monitor > Overview and other monitor screens to analyze the SPAN session's traffic to the NAM. We will cover this in greater detail later in the guide.

Configuring NetFlow Export on the Remote Branch Router (Optional)

The Cisco IOS[®] NetFlow records offer an aggregate view of the network traffic. When enabled on the branch router/switch, the NetFlow data source becomes available on the Cisco NAM. NetFlow provides statistics for applications, hosts, and conversions. Custom data sources can be specifically set up for some interfaces. NetFlow can be used to identify business-critical applications that are hosted in the data center and used in the branch.

Configuring NetFlow on Cisco IOS Routers

NetFlow can be configured on the branch edge router. NetFlow needs to be enabled on both the WAN and LAN interface to provide visibility into traffic flows entering and leaving the branch:

```
config t
interface <interface>
    ip route-cache flow
    exit
```

Configure the router to export NetFlow data to the NAM:

- ip flow-export version 5
- ip flow-export destination <NAM-Ip-Address> 3000

Note: The User Datagram Protocol (UDP) port number must be set at 3000.

Also make sure the Simple Network Management Protocol (SNMP) read-only community string is configured on the device:

snmp-server community <RO-string> RO

Configuring the NetFlow Data Source on the NAM

Use the NAM Traffic Analyzer to enable additional NetFlow monitoring devices.

1. From Setup > Data Sources > NetFlow > Listening Mode, click Start (Figure 6).

```
Figure 6. NetFlow Listening Mode
```

NetFlo	w L	istening	Mo) de	
🔶 Learn	ed D	evices as of	Sat	24 Jan 2009, 20:20:06 PST	
🗹 Auto	Refr	esh			
	_		_		
				Start	Time: Sat 24 Jan 2009, 20:19:32 PST
		Address		Number Received NDE Packets	Last Packet Received
	\bigcirc	10.10.0.1	4		Sat 24 Jan 2009, 20:20:05 PST

This allows the Cisco NAM to listen to any NetFlow packets being sent to it.

- When you see the IP address or addresses, select and add the device or devices, and provide the SNMP read community string. Checking the Create Data Source check box will create a NetFlow data source for that device with an aggregate of flows received from all NetFlow-enabled interfaces.
- Test for connectivity and the SNMP community string from Setup > Data Sources > NetFlow > Devices, then click Test.
- 4. To add a custom data source with just selected interfaces, select Setup > Data Sources > NetFlow > Custom Data Sources. Select a NetFlow device, provide a name, and click Next. Add the WAN interface to monitor in this data source (Figure 7), click Next, review the settings, and click Finish.

You Are Here: ♦ Setup > Data Sources Mode: EDITING	>Netflow >Custom etFlow Data So	Data Sources ≯Edit ≯Selec ources - Select Inte	t Interfaces erfaces
 1. Name 2. Interface Selection 3. Summary 	Apply to Any Int	Select Interfaces	S
	Data Flow: Input Available Interfaces Fa0/0 (1) ▲ Se0/0 (2) Fa0/1 (3) Se1/0 (4) Se1/1 (5) Se1/2 (6) Se1/2 (6) Se1/2 (6) Se1/3 (7) ■ Gi2/0 (8) In4/0 (9) Nu0 (11) T1 0/0 (12) T1 0/1 (13) ▼	O Output O Both Add ▷ Remove Remove All	Selected Interfaces T1 0/0 (12) (Input)

Figure 7. Selecting the WAN Interface for NetFlow Monitoring

 Next, go to Setup > Monitor > Core Monitoring and select the desired data sources with a prefix NDE as the NetFlow data source and enable the collections (Figure 8).

Figure 8. Enable Collections on the Desired Data Sources with a Prefix NDE



Configuring NetFlow Reports on the NAM

Creating a top applications and top hosts report for the NetFlow data source will provide trending and visibility into the top applications and top talkers for a particular branch over a period of time.

- 1. Click Reports > Basic Reports > Create.
- 2. Select Applications and click Next.
- 3. Select **Top Applications** and the NetFlow data source and click **Finish** (Figure 9).

Fiaure 9.	Setting Up the	A goT	pplications	Report
			pp	

Setup Report Parameters					
O Application:					
Encapsulation:	IP 💌				
Protocol:	3gpp2-a10	~			
O Top Applications					
O Top Application TCP/UDP	Ports				
Report Settings					
Report Name:	Top Applications - Bytes	Customized			
Data Type:	Bytes/sec 🔽				
Polling Interval:	15 minutes 💌				
Data Source:	NDE-br-rtr 🛛 👻				

- 4. Select Create again.
- 5. Select Hosts and click Next.
- 6. Select Top N Hosts and the NetFlow data source and click Finish (Figure 10).

Figure 10. Setting Up the Top N Hosts Report

Setup Host Report Parameters					
O Host Name / IP Address:					
Host Application:					
Encapsulation:	IP 💌				
Protocol:	3gpp2-a10	*			
O Top N Hosts					
Report Settings					
Report Name:	Top Hosts - Bytes In	Customized			
Data Type:	Bytes In/sec 🛛 🔽				
Polling Interval:	15 minutes 💌				
Data Source:	NDE-br-rtr 🔽				

Using SPAN and NetFlow to Identify Business-Critical Applications

Information from the SPAN data source from the data center switch can be used to identify aggregate traffic statistics, such as top applications and top talkers, for all the branches being served by the data center. NetFlow data from the branch router can be used to identify top applications, top talkers, and the amount of network resources being utilized by a particular branch. Information from both sources can be used to identify application optimization opportunities, as well as to select sites to target for the WAAS pilot. The illustrations below use the NetFlow data source. However, the same real-time monitoring screens are also available for the ALL SPAN data source.

 Select Monitor > Overview and select the NetFlow (NDE) data source. This will provide a real-time view into the top active applications and top active hosts (Figure 11).



Figure 11. The Overview Provides a Real-Time View of the Top Active Applications and Top Active Hosts

Select Monitor > Apps and select the NetFlow (NDE) data source. This will provide visibility into the top
applications and the current rates. Selecting the Cumulative Data radio button will show the top applications
and the cumulative data for those applications and the percentage of network traffic made up by each
application (Figure 12).

Figure 12.	Cumulative	Data for the	Тор	Applications
------------	------------	--------------	-----	--------------

		🔘 Current R	ates 🔵 Topli Chart	 Cumulative Data 	
Data	Source	e: NDE-br-rtr	~	Filter	Clear
				Showing 1-15 of	232 records
	#	Protocol	Packets	Bits∇	
\circ	1.	http	1,150,363,647	8,845,381,884,944	49%
0	2.	tcp-unknown	1,064,517,300	8,567,397,424,800	47%
\circ	З.	tcp-7878	24,135,715	109,950,102,344	1%
0	4.	kerberos	18,983,388	35,497,652,864	<1%
0	5.	ndps	1,868,752	15,036,298,048	<1%
0	6.	novadigm	1,713,416	13,751,226,560	<1%
0	7.	https	6,059,473	13,267,116,792	<1%
0	8.	mgep	1,064,712	8,620,991,936	<1%
0	9.	edonkey	950,644	7,666,335,552	<1%
0	10.	snmp	5,548,020	7,535,228,640	<1%
0	11.	tcp-2588	802,028	6,498,967,840	<1%
0	12.	soulseek	792,068	6,379,614,624	<1%
\circ	13.	top-2251	674,460	5,444,790,816	<1%
0	14.	cops	652,188	5,235,079,744	<1%
0	15.	top-2917	616,316	4,994,783,072	<1%
Row	speri	page: 15 💌	Units: Bits 💌	🕅 🖏 Go to page: 1 of 16	<u>∞</u> ⊳ ⊳∎

 Select Monitor > Hosts and select the NetFlow (NDE) data source. This will provide visibility into the top hosts and the current rates. Selecting the Cumulative Data radio button will show the top hosts and the cumulative data for those hosts and the percentage of network traffic used by each host (Figure 13).

Data	Sou	rce: NDE-br-	rtr	1	~	Address:		Filter	Clear
							Showin	g 1-15	of 250 records
	#	Address	Via	In Packets	Out Packets	In Bits	Out Bits 7		Non-Unicast
0	1.	10.0.2.4	ip	3,298,604,830	3,922,159,905	19,252,6 <mark>48,764,736</mark>	35,311,306,669, <mark>6</mark> 48	65%	0
0	2.	10.10.0.11	ip	3,927,091,503	3,185,012,546	35,316,136,652,752	18,098,872,369,368	33%	0
0	3.	171.68.96.135	ip	0	118,820,164	0	1,166,936,164,480	2%	0
0	4.	10:1:1:10	ip	13,278,558	10,836,051	5,968,703,184	103,819,188,648	<1%	0
0	5.	10.10.1.12	qi	13,039,304	17,744,888	106,798,325,280	12,818,861,056	<1%	0
0	6.	10.10.1.20	ip	948,214	2,553,156	1,963,049,712	5,482,904,800	<1%	0
0	7.	10.10.1.10	ip	799,416	2,075,748	1,396,080,664	4,495,640,640	<1%	0
0	8.	10.1.0.10	ip	4,621,086	1,750,757	10,003,476,800	3,474,314,616	<1%	0
0	9.	10.0.2.2	ip	3,959,744	3,885,941	8,656,862,912	3,310,676,640	<1%	0
0	10.	10.10.0.31	ip	2,568,480	3,829,159	4,330,313,888	2,704,742,216	<1%	0
0	11.	10.0.0.10	ip	3,702,680	1,847,988	4,875,468,592	2,660,946,352	<1%	0
0	12.	10.0.2.16	ip	2,720,540	2,005,604	1,670,936,320	2,062,209,696	<1%	0
0	13.	10.0.2.5	ip	1,937,084	1,888,919	4,934,451,456	1,865,050,880	<1%	0
0	14.	12.190.48.115	ip	53,952	102,888	19,229,600	1,207,439,360	<1%	0
0	15.	10.10.0.20	ip	930,206	1,036,020	786,007,360	1,077,314,432	<1%	0

Figure 13. Cumulative Data for the Top Hos	sts
--	-----

4. Select Monitor > Apps > Application Group and select the Cumulative Data radio button (Figure 14).

Figure 14. Cumulative Data for Application Groups

O Current Rates	🗧 🔿 TopN Chart	Ournulative Data	
Data Source: ALL SPAN	~	Filter	Clear
		Showing 1-7 of	7 groups
Application Group	Packets	Bits∇	
+ CIFS	1,629,113,709	14,552,042,978,024	53%
O + Web	616,859,474	5,978,579,943,824	22%
🔘 + File-Transfer	590,079,639	5,660,698,746,880	21%
+ Peer-to-Peer	986,241	9,230,617,208	<1%
🔘 + Database	649,417	6,286,178,480	<1%
🔿 + Multi-Media	614,557	5,050,227,960	<1%
🔿 + email	12,941	8,423,472	<1%
Rows per page: 15 💌 U	nits: Bits 💌 🛛	🔇 Go to page: 1 of 1 Go)
[♠] Select an item then take an act	ion>	Details Real-Time Re	eport

This shows how applications can be grouped. In this case we see that the CIFS, Web, and File-Transfer application groups consume the most bandwidth. These are also conducive to optimization, and hence WAAS can provide substantial improvements in this network.

 Select Report > Basic Reports and select the Top Applications report for the NDE data source (Figure 15). This will provide visibility into trending of the top applications' rates over time. The same can be done to view the top host rates over time by selecting the Top Hosts report.





Creating a Baseline of Application Performance

After understanding the various applications of interest, we would like to quantitatively determine the acceptable performance level for these applications. The NAM short-term and historical reports on application bandwidth usage and response time can help users in creating a baseline. The measurements can be made in busy time periods when users are experiencing poor performance as well as when the performance is acceptable to derive a baseline.

Real-Time Reports for Evaluating Application Performance

 Click Monitor > Response Time > Server Response Time. You can now filter on the specific server for which you are looking to baseline the application performance. This will provide the aggregate view for a particular server and application as observed from the SPAN traffic on the data center switch (Figure 16).

You	Are Here: Monitor Response	Time	S	erver R	tesponse Time											
		Serv	eг	Applie	cation Re	spons	es									
	Server	🔸 Late	Latest Data: 300 second interval ending Mon 09 Feb 2009, 19:12:43 PST													
	"Response Time	🗹 Auto Refresh														
	·· Transactions		_													
	··Network						💿 All Da	ta (🔾 ТорН С	hart						
	> Server-Client	Data	So	urce: Al	L SPAN		v 8	Server	~	0.10.0.1	11			ilter	C	еаг
	··Response Time												Chave			
	Transactions												Show	ing 1-1	orin	ecoras
	·•Network		#	Senier	Ann	# of # of		Application Delay (ms)		iy (ms)	s) Network De		Jelay (ms) Tota		Delay	(ms)
			"	501701	ripp	Clients	Responses	Min	Avg 🖓	Max	Min	Avg	Max	Min	Avg	Max
		0	1. '	10.10.0.11	I nb-unknown	1	12	0	2	84	82	82	82	82	84	166
		Row	/s p	ber page:	15 💌					0.	≬ ≬ ₀	o to page	e: 1	of 1	Go	
		¢	Se	lect an ite	m then take an	action	>	(Multi Seg	jment	Deta	ails	Captu	re	Rep	ort

Figure 16. Server Response Time

In this case we notice that the network delay (which includes the WAN delay in this case) is contributing significantly to the response time. So this application might benefit from caching, compression, and other techniques that would reduce the number of round trips on the WAN. On the other hand, if the application delay is huge, then some application fine-tuning might provide further benefits in addition to the server offloading that some of the WAN optimization techniques might offer.

2. Select the **Top N** radio button and select **Average Application Delay** from the drop-down list. This will provide insights into which servers are most heavily loaded and have the maximum average latency (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Average Application Delay Shows Which Servers Are Most Heavily Loaded

 Now select Monitor > Response Time > Server-Client Transactions. You can again filter on the Server IP address. This will help us identify which sites are experiencing poor performance and where WAN optimization would yield the maximum benefits (Figure 18).

Figure 18. The Server/Client Application Response Time

You .	Are Here: 🔶 Monitor 🗦 Respo	nse Time	Transa	ctions								
		Serv	er/Cli	ent Application	Response Time							
•	Server	🔸 Late	est Data:	300 second interval en	ding Tue 10 Feb 2009, 04:35:43	CET						
	··Response Time	🗹 Au	to Refre	sh								
	·· Transactions	_										
	·•Network				💿 All	Data 🤇	🔾 TopN	Chart				
•	Server-Client	Data	Source:	ALL SPAN	~		Serve	er 🛉	10.3.193	.1	Filter	Clear
	Response Time						-		_		Chousing 1.4	Cof Exposeda
	Transactions							Tenne Time	Ann Dann		Showing 1-s	Deved Tein
	·•Network		#	Server	Client	Арр	# or Trans	Trans Time (ms) ∇	App Resp Time (ms)	Time (ms)	Time (ms)	Time (ms)
		0	1. svc-n	am.rack-nms.cisco.com	sjc-vpn3-941.cisco.com	http	43	248	5	22	0	208
		0	2. svc-n	am.rack-nms.cisco.com	ams-gclugnac-8712.cisco.com	http	243	100	3	10	3	78
		0	3. svc-n	am.rack-nms.cisco.com	10.3.192.191	tcp-7878	35	14	5	10	0	8
		0	4. svc-n	am.rack-nms.cisco.com	10.5.192.192	tcp-7878	33	14	3	9	0	9
		0	5. svc-n	am.rack-nms.cisco.com	10.5.2.201	http	37	12	14	1	0	1
		Row	vs per pa	ge: 15 💌					IK	🛛 🗐 Go to page:	1 of 1	© ⊳ ⊳I
		¢	-Select a	n item then take an actio	n>			Multi S	Segment	Details	Capture	Report

What we see in Figure 18 is that the first client in the list is experiencing far poorer performance based on the transaction time (average), which is 248 ms averaged over 43 transactions. The average application response time is just 5 ms, so that is not a contributor to the problem. The round-trip time (which is the acknowledgement delay time and is a good indicator of the delay introduced by the WAN when the NAM is in the data center), shows that the WAN is contributing significantly to the poor performance.

4. Select the **Top N** radio button and select **Average Transaction Time** from the drop-down list to view the chart that can provide insights into which site (client) is experiencing poor transaction time for which application (Figure 19).



Figure 19. The Average Transaction Time Report

5. Click the All Data radio button and select the server, client, and application you want to baseline and click Details. This provides about 45 different metrics related to the server and a test client at a target branch related to the chosen application (Figure 20). Average transaction time is a good indication of the end-user experience and should be recorded.





 We can also determine the bandwidth usage per host by selecting Monitor > Hosts and selecting the Cumulative Data radio button (Figure 21).

	Net	woi	k Hosts							
etwork Hosts AC Stations	+ Cu	irrei	ntData: aso	of Mor	n 09 Feb 2009, 21	:33:44 PST				
					O Current R	ates 🔿 Top	N Chart 🛛 💿 Cum	ulative Data		
	Data	a Sou	irce: ALL S	SPAN	1	~	Address:		Filter	Clear
								Showing	g 1-10 d	of 100 records
		#	Address	Via	In Packets	Out Packets	In Bits	Out Bits ∇		Non-Unicast
	0	1.	10.0.2.4	ip	1,369,607,409	1,510,009,937	11,880,689,320,136	14,761,529,605,680	55%	709,904
	0	2.	10.10.0.11	ip	1,498,685,737	1,329,546,417	14,683,642,849,944	11,571,439,385,152	43%	0
	0	З.	10.0.2.9	ip	6,997,298	14,328,308	10,932,485,824	115,859,541,768	<1%	5,356,640
	0	4.	10.0.2.11	ip	3,719,951	7,084,995	4,789,905,216	65,575,051,264	<1%	2,627,168
	0	5.	10.0.2.5	ip	51,066,837	38,556,931	41,090,089,712	54,941,202,408	<1%	2,599,888
	0	6.	10.0.2.15	ip	33,094,467	45,753,894	32,053,746,872	32,728,326,480	<1%	96
	0	7.	10.0.2.13	ip	1,330,500	1,756,248	1,728,061,432	13,761,484,976	<1%	143,328
	0	8.	10.0.2.25	ip	5,129,776	4,676,585	10,034,901,448	11,791,292,544	<1%	118,880
	0	9.	10.0.2.26	ip	4,660,240	5,092,712	11,626,659,136	10,066,462,856	<1%	131,472
	0	10.	10.0.2.16	ip	2,437,715	2,295,121	7,908,002,912	4,802,386,504	<1%	2,428,832

Note: The host view can provide traffic volume values that are larger than those reported by the WAE. As an example, if the server serves UDP and TCP traffic, and only TCP is being monitored by WAEs, the host report would include also the UDP traffic. Selecting a host and clicking **Details** will show the application distribution for that host.

Historical Reports for Evaluating Application Performance

- Go to Monitor > Response Time > Server-Client Response Time. Select the server, client, and application you want to baseline and click Report. This starts a historical report for the average application delay, average client network delay, and average server network delay. Let the report run for a period of 24 hours, so we can understand the performance trend over the course of a day.
- 2. Select Reports > Basic Reports. Select the Avg App Delay, Avg Clt Nwk Delay, and Avg Svr Nwk Delay reports and click View. Set the style to Stack Bar (Figure 22).



Figure 22. Report of Average Delay for Application, Client Side Network, and Server Side Network

The graph in Figure 22 can provide insights into periods of the day when application performance drops and whether the drop is due to the server load or to network congestion. It can help determine whether latency issues are transient and the time periods when the biggest gains from optimization might be seen.

Configuring Response Time Reports for Impact Analysis

Set up a historical report for the average transaction time.

- 1. Click **Reports > Basic Reports**.
- 2. Click Create and select Response Time.
- 3. Enter the application information for the optimized application as well as the server and test client (in the branch).
- 4. Select **Avg Transaction** as the **Data Type** and select **ALL SPAN** as the **Data Source** (where this traffic is seen), and set the appropriate **Polling Interval**. This can be as low as 1 minute. See Figure 23.

Figure 23. Setting Up the Application Response Time Report

Setup Applica	tion Response Time Report Parame	ters		
Application Info				
 Target Report 				
Encapsulation:	IP 🔽			
Protocol:	ftp-data	~		
Server Name / IP Address:	ftpserver.cisco.com]		
Client Name / IP Address:	test_rtp.cisco.com	(optional)		
O Top N Servers				
O Top N Client/Server Pair				
Report Settings				
Report Name:	ftpserver test_rtp FTP-DATA	Customized		
Data Type:	Avg Transaction 🛛 👻			
Polling Interval:	1 minute			
Data Source:	ALL SPAN 🔽			

This report will be useful for creating a WAAS before and after report.

Configuring Conversation Throughput Reports for Impact Analysis

The conversation throughput report can show the reduction in the bandwidth utilized after optimization.

- 1. Click Reports > Basic Reports.
- 2. Click Create and select Conversations.
- 3. Enter the host names for the IP server and the IP client and, if needed, the application information.
- 4. Select **Bit/Sec** as the **Data Type**, set the appropriate polling interval (as low as 1 minute), and select **SPAN** as the **Data Source**.
- From Reports > Basic Reports, you can check multiple reports and then select View to provide a composite report.

This report will be useful to create a WAAS before and after report.

Configuring NAM-WAAS Integration

This section discusses how to enable WAAS to send flow information to the NAM and how to generate before and after reports to demonstrate the impact of WAAS.

Configuring WAAS to Send Flow Information to NAM

Before you can monitor WAAS traffic, you must first configure the WAAS device to export WAAS flow record data to the NAM.

To configure the WAAS device to export the flow record data, use the WAAS CLI flow monitor command as follows:

```
config t
no flow monitor tcpstat-v1 enable
flow monitor tcpstat-v1 host <NAM-IP-ADDRESS>
flow monitor tcpstat-v1 enable
end
```

Alternately, you can use the WAAS Central Manager graphical user interface (GUI):

From **Configure > Network Monitoring > Flow Monitor**, enter the NAM IP address and enable flow monitoring (Figure 24).

	Cisco Wide Area	a Application Services admin Home	: Help
W	/AAS Central Manager	<u>Dashboard</u> > <u>Devices</u> > <u>Switc</u> pod1-br-wae	<u>h Device</u>
•	🗑 pod1-br-wae	Flow Monitor Settings for WAE, pod1-	br-wae
	🕑 Monitor	Flow Monitor Settings	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
•	🔇 Troubleshoot	Current applied settings from WAE. pod1-br-wae	
Þ	🝓 Jobs		
•	⁹ Configure	Enable: 🔽	
Ŧ	Security 🔥	tcpstat-v1 Host:* 10.10.1.12 IP a	iddress 🚪
Ŧ	Network		
Ξ	Network Monitoring	Note: * - Required Field	
	Alarm Overload Detection Flow Monitor		
Ŧ	Date/Time	AT	<u> </u>
<			-
•	🕼 Admin	Submit	1

Figure 24. Enabling Flow Monitoring with the WAAS GUI

After you enable flow export to the NAM using WAAS CLI commands or the WAAS GUI as above, WAAS devices will be detected and automatically added to the NAM's WAAS device list.

Configuring the WAAS Data Source in NAM

- 1. Log in to the NAM GUI.
- 2. Click Setup > Data Sources.
- 3. From the contents menu, choose WAAS -- Devices.
- 4. Choose the WAAS device you want to modify, then click **Config** (Figure 24).

Figure 25. Configuring a WAAS Data Sources

	Config Device
WAAS Devices:	192.168.156.205
Monitor WAAS s	segments:
Client	
Client WAN	
Server WAN	
🗹 Server	
🗹 Passthrough	
Export Passthr	rough Response Time
	Submit Reset Cancel

- 5. You can configure WAAS to monitor the following WAAS segments or WAAS data sources (data collection points):
 - Client: This setting configures the WAE device to export the original (LAN side) TCP flows from/to the clients to NAM for monitoring. Set this on the branch side WAE.
 - Client WAN: This setting configures the WAE device to export the optimized (WAN side) TCP flows originated from its clients to NAM for monitoring. Set this on the branch side WAE if the NAM is located close to the branch.
 - Server WAN: This setting configures the WAE device to export the optimized (WAN side) TCP flows from its servers to NAM for monitoring. Set this on the Core WAE if the NAM is close to the data center.
 - Server: This setting configures the WAE device to export the original (LAN side) TCP flows from/to the servers to NAM for monitoring. Set this on the core WAE.
 - Passthrough: Set this on the branch side or core WAE if you wish to gain visibility into passthrough flows.
- With NAM in the data center (NAM-2 or the NAM 2200 appliance), configure the following (see figure 26): Branch WAE data source: Client, Passthrough

Core WAE data source: Server, ServerWAN

Note: SPAN data sources might take the place of the server data source. For example, if you already configured SPAN to monitor the server LAN traffic, it is not necessary to enable the server data source on the WAE device.

		WAAS Devices		
	Device⊽	Information	Status	DataSource
	2.8.60.10	Pod6-dc-wae (00:14:5e:83:5a:95)	Active	WAE-2.8.60.10-SvrWAN WAE-2.8.60.10-Server
	2.8.64.10	Pod6-branch-wae (00:22:64:f2:7b:04) Cisco WAAS 4.1.3b-b9 [OE574] Last collection: Tue Sep 15 20:30:34 2009 (188 bytes)	Active	WAE-2.8.64.10-Client WAE-2.8.64.10-Passthru
Ĉ Sele	ct a device t	hen take an action Add Config	Auto	o-Config Delete

Figure 26. WAAS Data Sources

 Click Setup > Monitor and make sure that Core Monitoring and Response Time Monitoring are selected for the WAE data source. **Note:** The status will remain Pending until the monitored servers are configured (as described in the next section) and the NAM starts receiving the flows from the WAE.

Configuring WAAS Monitored Servers in NAM

WAAS needs to know which flows it must export to NAM. Entering server IP addresses in the WAAS monitored servers will enable WAAS to export flows related to those servers to the NAM, so NAM can monitor the response time for the given servers. Figure 12 and Figure 13 can be used to help identify these business-critical applications and the servers that host them.

- 1. Click Setup > Data Sources.
- 2. From the contents menu, choose WAAS > Monitored Servers (Figure 27).
- 3. Click Add and enter the test server IP address in the Server Address field.

Figure 27. Adding a WAAS Monitored Server Address

WAAS Monitored Servers							
172.20.107.123							
1.2.3.4							
10.96.1.2							
10.31.10.1							
10.31.10.2							
10.31.10.3							
10.31.10.4							
CSelect a server then take an action> Add Delete							

Configuring Response Time Reports for WAAS Impact Analysis

The reports function allows you to store and retrieve up to 100 days of historical data about the network traffic monitored by the NAM. Response time reports in NAM can provide visibility into the impact of WAAS. Create a response time report for the average transaction time as experienced by the client, based on the client WAE data source from the branch WAE. This report will provide visibility on response time improvement as experienced by the branch when combined with the transaction time report from the SPAN data source.

- 1. Click Reports > Basic Reports.
- 2. Click Create and select Response Time.
- 3. Enter the application information for the application and the server.
- Select Avg. Transaction as the Data Type and select WAE-<BranchWAE-IP>-Client as the Data Source. The Polling Interval can be set as low as 1 minute.
- 5. From Reports > Basic Reports, check multiple reports and then select View to provide a composite report.

Configuring Conversation Throughput Reports for WAAS Impact Analysis

The conversation throughput report can show the reduction in the bandwidth utilized after optimization.

- 1. Click Reports > Basic Reports.
- 2. Click Create and select Conversations.
- 3. Enter the host names for the IP server and the IP client and if needed the application information.

- 4. Select **Bits/Sec** as the **Data Type**, set the appropriate polling interval (which could be as low as 1 minute), and select **WAE-<CoreWAE-IP>-ServerWAN** as the **Data Source**.
- 5. Now repeat the above steps and select WAE-<BranchWAE-IP>-Client as the Data Source.
- From Reports > Basic Reports, you can check multiple reports and then select View to provide a composite report.

Generating WAAS Before and After Reports

This section will discuss how to generate WAAS before and after reports.

 Click Reports > Basic Reports and select the Avg Transaction report for the same server, client, and application from the SPAN data source in the data center (Orange) created in the "Configuring Response Time Reports for Impact Analysis" section and from the WAE client data source from the branch (Blue) created in the "Configuring Response Time Reports for WAAS Impact Analysis" section and click View. Set the style to Bar Chart. This will bring up the composite report indicating the average transaction time reduction, which is an indication of the end-user experience improvement (Figure 28).



Figure 28. A Composite Report Showing Average Transaction Time Reduction

- **Note:** The average transaction time before WAAS was ~430 ms. After WAAS is enabled, the WAE client data source starts up and the average transaction time has dropped to ~120 ms.
- Select Reports > Basic Reports and select the Conversation Bytes report created in the "Configuring Response Time Reports for Impact Analysis" and "Configuring Conversion Throughput Reports for WAAS Impact Analysis" sections. You can also select the Avg Transaction reports created for SPAN and WAE client data sources for the same server-client pair. Click View. Chose the Bar Chart style (Figure 29).



Figure 29. Transaction Reports for SPAN and WAE Client Data Sources

Figure 29 is the report for a test conducted with transferring a 12 MB file from the data center to a branch. Note that before WAAS was enabled the traffic rate was limited by the WAN bandwidth as seen from SPAN. The file also took longer to transfer from server to client. After WAAS is enabled, we observe the new WAE data sources. We also see the file transfer across the WAN in maroon. However, after the first time, caching kicks in and file transfer across the WAN is eliminated. We observe the core WAE requesting the file from the server and verifying the cache and then the branch WAE sending the file across to the client. In the bottom half of the report, we see the transaction time reduction from an average of 300 ms to 120 ms after WAAS is enabled.

Click Monitor > Response Time. Under Server-Client, select the conversation and click Multi Segment. This
report will show the network delay introduced by the three segments; you can check the data redundancy
elimination (DRE) effects by looking at the traffic volume values (Figure 30).

1															
	Response Time across Multiple Segments (Data Sources)														
	🔿 Individual Data Source View 🛛 💿 Correlated WAAS Segment View														
0	Serv	er: 192.168.156.230)	Client	: 192	.168.15	6.140			Applica	tion: http			ilter 🛛	Clear
Showing 1-1 of 1 record										1 records					
#	ш	Desush	Server	Client	App	Netwo	ork De	lay (ms)	Арр	Total	Transaction [·]	lime (ms)	Traffic	Volume	(bits)
	#	Branch				Client	WAN	Server	Delay (ms)	Delay (ms)	Avg ∇	Max	Client	WAN	Server
	1. \	WAE-192.168.156.206	192.168.156.230	192.168.156.140	http	0	80	1	7	95	116	464	2,187,168	149,680	2,187,152
Rows per page: 100 💌 🛛 📢 🤤 Go to p										bage: 1	of 1 🧕	o d di			

Figure 30.	Response	Time Across	Multiple	Segments
------------	----------	-------------	----------	----------

Summary

As we have seen in this document, the NAM is able to collect and analyze information from various data sources, such as, SPAN, NetFlow, and the embedded instrumentation on WAE to provide insights into various stages of WAAS POC and deployment. The NAM's real-time monitoring, historical reporting, and application performance analytics can be used to gain visibility into optimization opportunities and for baselining application performance, understanding the impact of WAN optimization, and ongoing troubleshooting.



Americas Headquarters Cisco Systems, Inc. San Jose, CA Asia Pacific Headquarters Cisco Systems (USA) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Europe Headquarters Cisco Systems International BV Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Cisco has more than 200 offices worldwide. Addresses, phone numbers, and fax numbers are listed on the Cisco Website at www.cisco.com/go/offices.

CCDE, CCENT, CCSI, Cisco Explorer, Cisco HealthPresence, Cisco IronPort, the Cisco logo, Cisco Nurse Connect, Cisco Pulse, Cisco SensorBase, Cisco StackPower, Cisco Stadum/Vision, Cisco TelePresence, Cisco TrustSec, Cisco Unified Computing System, Cisco WebEx, DCE, Flip Channels, Flip for Good, Flip Mino, Flipshare (Design), Flip Ultra, Flip Video, Flip Video (Design), Instant Broadband, and Welcome to the Human Network are trademarks; Changing the Way We Work, Live, Play, and Learn, Cisco Capital, Cisco Capital (Design), Cisco, Financed (Stylized), Cisco Store, Flip Gift Card, and One Million Acts of Green are service marks; and Access Registrar, Aironet, AllTouch, AsyncOS, Bringing the Meeting To You, Catalyst, CCDA, CCDP, CCIE, CCIP, CCNA, CCNP, CCSc, the Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert Ilogo, Cisco IDS, Cisco Lumin, Cisco Nexus, Cisco Press, Cisco Systems, Cisco Systems Capital, the Cisco Systems logo, Cisco Unity, Collaboration Without Limitation, Continuum, EtherFast, EtherSwitch, Event Center, Explorer, Follow Me Browsing, GainMaker, LIYNX, IOS, IPhone, IronPort, the IronPort logo, Laser Link, LightStream, Linksys, MeetingPlace, MeetingPlace Chime Sound, MGX, Networkers, Networking Academy, PCNow, PIX, PowerKY, PowerPanels, PowerTV (Design), PowerVu, Prisma, ProConnect, ROSA, SenderBase, SMARTnet, Spectrum Expert, StackWise, WebEx, and the WebEx logo are registered trademarks of Cisco and/or its affiliates in the United States and certain other countries.

All other trademarks mentioned in this document or website are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (1002R)

Printed in USA

C07-584729-00 02/10